

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Eisl, Andreas

Working Paper

The ambiguous consensus on fiscal rules: How ideational ambiguity has facilitated social democratic parties' support of structural deficit rules in the eurozone

MaxPo Discussion Paper, No. 20/4

Provided in Cooperation with:

Max Planck Sciences Po Center on Coping with Instability in Market Societies (MaxPo)

Suggested Citation: Eisl, Andreas (2020): The ambiguous consensus on fiscal rules: How ideational ambiguity has facilitated social democratic parties' support of structural deficit rules in the eurozone, MaxPo Discussion Paper, No. 20/4, Max Planck Sciences Po Center on Coping with Instability in Market Societies (MaxPo), Paris

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/226637

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.





No. 20/4

maxpo discussion paper

The Ambiguous Consensus on Fiscal Rules

How Ideational Ambiguity Has Facilitated Social Democratic Parties' Support of Structural Deficit Rules in the Eurozone

Andreas Eisl

Andreas Eisl

The Ambiguous Consensus on Fiscal Rules: How Ideational Ambiguity Has Facilitated Social Democratic Parties' Support of Structural Deficit Rules in the Eurozone

MaxPo Discussion Paper 20/4 Max Planck Sciences Po Center on Coping with Instability in Market Societies December 2020

© 2020 by the author(s)

About the author

Andreas Eisl is a research fellow at the Jacques Delors Institute, Paris. He is currently finishing a PhD in comparative political economy at Sciences Po in Paris and the Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies (MPIfG) in Cologne.

Email: andreas.eisl@sciencespo.fr

How to cite this paper

Eisl, Andreas. 2020. "The Ambiguous Consensus on Fiscal Rules: How Ideational Ambiguity Has Facilitated Social Democratic Parties' Support of Structural Deficit Rules in the Eurozone." *MaxPo Discussion Paper* 20/4, Max Planck Sciences Po Center on Coping with Instability in Market Societies, Paris.

MaxPo Discussion Paper ISSN 2196-6508 (Print) ISSN 2197-3075 (Internet)

Editorial Board

Jenny Andersson (Sciences Po, CEE–CNRS)
Olivier Godechot (MaxPo and Sciences Po, OSC–CNRS)
Colin Hay (Sciences Po, CEE)
Jeanne Lazarus (Sciences Po, CSO–CNRS)
Cornelia Woll (MaxPo and Sciences Po)

Submission Inquiries

Contact the editors at dpseries@maxpo.eu

Downloads

www.maxpo.eu
Go to *Publications*

Max Planck Sciences Po Center on Coping with Instability in Market Societies Sciences Po | 27 rue Saint-Guillaume | 75337 Paris Cedex 07 | France

Tel. +33 1 45 49 59 32 Fax +33 1 58 71 72 17

www.maxpo.eu info@maxpo.eu

Abstract

In recent years, all eurozone member states have introduced national fiscal rules, which put limits on public deficits and debt. Fiscal rules reduce the fiscal policy discretion of politicians and affect their capacity to use public budgets for macroeconomic steering and redistribution. While such institutional discretion constraints run against the traditional policy preferences of social democratic parties, it is puzzling why they supported national fiscal rule reforms during the European debt crisis. This paper argues that the concept of structural deficit rules, central to reform efforts across the eurozone, allowed for the formation of an ambiguous consensus between center-right and center-left parties. While conservative and liberal parties are generally supportive of institutional discretion constraints, structural deficit rules - in contrast to nominal deficit rules - allowed social democratic and other left-wing parties to link such rules with their broader policy preferences of Keynesian countercyclical policymaking and the protection of tax revenues across the economic cycle to ensure the state's capacity for redistribution. Drawing on three country case studies (Germany, Austria, France), this paper shows how the concept of structural deficit rules facilitated – at least discursively – the support for discretion-constraining institutions among social democratic and other left-wing parties. In theoretical terms, this study also advances research on the role of ambiguity in political decision-making, (re-)conceptualizing three forms of ambiguity underlying ambiguous consensus: textual ambiguity, institutional ambiguity, and ideational ambiguity.

Keywords: ambiguous consensus, comparative politics, eurozone governance, fiscal rules, ideational ambiguity, social democratic parties

Résumé

Au cours des dernières années, tous les pays membres de la zone euro ont introduit des règles budgétaires nationales qui fixent des limites à la dette et aux déficits publics. Les règles budgétaires réduisent le pouvoir discrétionnaire des responsables politiques en matière budgétaire et affectent leur capacité à utiliser les budgets publics pour le pilotage macroéconomique et pour la redistribution. Alors que ces contraintes institutionnelles vont à l'encontre des préférences traditionnelles des partis sociaux-démocrates, on peut s'étonner de constater que ces derniers ont soutenu les réformes des règles budgétaires pendant la crise de la dette en Europe. Cette étude défend l'idée selon laquelle les règles sur le déficit structurel, un concept central des initiatives de réforme au sein de la zone euro, ont abouti à un consensus ambigu entre les partis du centre-droit et ceux du centregauche. Tandis que les partis conservateurs et libéraux soutiennent généralement les contraintes sur le pouvoir discrétionnaire des institutions, les règles sur le déficit structurel - contrairement aux règles sur le déficit nominal - ont permis aux partis sociaux-démocrates et à d'autres partis de gauche de les relier à leurs préférences pour des politiques keynésiennes contra-cycliques plus larges et au maintien des impôts sur les revenus tout au long du cycle économique, afin d'assurer la capacité redistributive de l'État. Sur la base d'études de cas portant sur trois pays (Allemagne, Autriche et France), cet article montre comment le concept de règles sur le déficit structurel a facilité - du moins au niveau discursif - le soutien des contraintes institutionnelles par les partis sociaux-démocrates et par d'autres partis de gauche. Sur le plan théorique, la présente étude développe la recherche sur le rôle de l'ambiguïté dans la prise de décisions politiques, en (re)conceptualisant trois formes d'ambiguïté sous-jacentes au consensus ambigu : l'ambiguïté textuelle, l'ambiguïté institutionnelle et l'ambiguïté conceptuelle.

Mots-clés: ambiguïté conceptuelle, consensus ambigu, gouvernance de la zone euro, partis sociaux-démocrates, politiques comparées, règles budgétaires

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Three forms of ambiguity underlying ambiguous consensus	3
	Textual ambiguity	4
	Institutional ambiguity	6
	Ideational ambiguity	6
3	Origins and implementations of structural deficit rules	7
	From nominal to structural deficit rules in Europe	7
	The implementation of national structural deficit rules	9
4	The inherent ambiguities in structural deficit rules	11
	Ideational ambiguity in structural deficit rules	11
	Textual and institutional ambiguity in structural deficit rules	12
5	Social democratic support for structural deficit rules in three countries	13
	A problem definition of public deficits shared by social democratic parties	13
	Structural deficit rules and countercyclical policymaking	16
	Structural deficit rules and tax cuts	21
6	Conclusion	23
Int	erviews	25
Pa	rliamentary and committee minutes	25
Εle	ectoral manifestos and party platform programs	26
Re	ferences	26

The Ambiguous Consensus on Fiscal Rules: How Ideational Ambiguity Has Facilitated Social Democratic Parties' Support of Structural Deficit Rules in the Eurozone

1 Introduction

Over the last three decades, all eurozone member states have become bound by European fiscal rules through the Maastricht convergence criteria, the Stability and Growth Pact (SGP), and the Fiscal Compact. At the same time, countries have increasingly introduced national and sub-national fiscal rules (e.g., the German debt brake). Fiscal rules put limits on public deficits and debt, considerably reducing the fiscal policy discretion of political decision-makers and affecting their capacity to use public budgets for macroeconomic steering and redistribution. Therefore, the implementation of fiscal rules generally runs contrary to the views of social democratic and other left-wing parties, which traditionally support Keynesian fiscal policymaking, including an active role of the state in the economy (see Hibbs 1977). It is thus all the more puzzling that, in recent years and in a large majority of European countries, even stringent national fiscal rule reforms have been supported by parties on the left side of the political spectrum.

In this paper, I show that the switch in thinking from nominal towards structural deficit rules (as the central measuring stick for fiscal policymaking)¹ facilitated the formation of an "ambiguous consensus" (see Palier 2005; Mahoney and Thelen 2010; Béland

For their valuable and insightful comments on earlier drafts of this paper, I want to thank in particular Cornelia Woll, Bruno Palier, Emiliano Grossman, Martin Höpner, Matthias Thiemann, Daniel Mertens, Tobias Tesche, Federico Bonomi, Zoé Evrard, Jan Boguslawski, and Apolline Taillandier. I would also like to thank all participants of the panel "The Political Economy of Fiscal Councils and Fiscal Rules" held at the ECPR General Conference on August 27, 2020, and my colleagues at the Max Planck Sciences Po Center on Coping with Instability in Market Societies for their helpful input and support.

Nominal deficit rules describe the unadjusted annual permitted difference between public expenditures and public revenues, typically in relationship to a country's gross domestic product (GDP). As nominal deficit rules ignore a country's position in the economic cycle, such rules can have procyclical effects. During recessions, automatic stabilizers lead to increasing expenditures (e.g., for unemployment insurance) while revenues fall (e.g., due to reduced consumption and profits, affecting value added tax and corporate tax incomes). Vice versa, during economic boom periods, expenditures tend to decrease, while revenues increase. Nominal deficit rules could thus demand excessive spending cuts and tax hikes during economic slowdowns, while allowing for spending sprees and substantial tax cuts during phases of strong economic growth. Structural deficit rules aim at adjusting the permitted difference between expenditures and revenues for the position of a country's economy in the economic cycle. In addition, they typically exclude one-off effects and temporary changes to public expenditures and revenues, allowing for more coherent and stable fiscal policies over time (Schaechter et al. 2012).

and Cox 2016) on fiscal rules across party families, helping social democratic parties to overcome their prior rejection of fiscal rules. I argue that the concept of structural deficit rules enabled fiscal policy actors with different (and often contradictory) sets of ideas and interests to agree on the same institutional solution. While conservative and liberal parties have generally been supportive of fiscal rules in the past, I contend that social democratic parties needed the structural deficit concept to bring fiscal rules into line with their traditional thinking on macroeconomic policymaking and the redistributive capacities of public budgets. They could do so in two ways: First, in contrast to nominal deficit rules, structural deficit rules made it argumentatively possible to link budgetary constraints to Keynesian countercyclical policies. At least in theory, structural budget balances correspond to Keynes' approach of "deficit spending" during economic recessions and fiscal consolidation during periods of strong economic growth (Brown-Collier and Collier 1995). Second, and intertwined with the first point, centerleft and left parties saw structural deficit rules as providing a protection against tax cuts from center-right parties (especially during economic boom phases). In the view of social democratic parties, structural deficit rules make it more difficult for other parties to reduce the size of the state towards a "small state," thus ensuring budgets' capacity to redistribute resources over time.

The findings of this paper are based on qualitative case studies of three eurozone member states: Germany, Austria, and France. As part of a broader research project on fiscal rules in Europe, they are also informed by three additional case studies on Slovakia, Ireland, and Portugal. The empirical analysis is grounded in extensive process tracing of all fiscal rule reforms in the three countries studied and at the European level that were made since the agreement on the Economic and Monetary Union (EMU) in the early 1990s. The mobilized materials of the individual case studies include diverse sources. First, information was gathered through fifty-six semi-structured interviews with politicians, public officials, and experts. Interviews cover representatives across the political spectrum and fiscal policy elites from the most important national and supranational institutions involved in fiscal policymaking. Second, the analysis includes parliamentary debates across the three case studies with a focus on discussions held around fiscal rule reforms. Third, the empirical materials make use of electoral manifestos and party platform programs of all parties represented in the respective national parliaments. And fourth, supplementary materials entail reports from ministries or parliamentary committees, country reports from international organizations and research institutions, and newspaper articles.

Beyond its empirical contribution to the literature, this paper – more broadly – also advances the theoretical foundations of the study of ambiguity and ambiguous consensus. Based on the existing literature (e.g., Mitchell 2009; Best 2012; Crespy and Vanheuverzwijn 2019) and the empirical findings of this study, it proposes a reorganization and reclassification of currently used concepts around ambiguity, such as constructive ambiguity, ambiguous agreement/compromise, and "coalition magnets." The theoretical analysis includes studies from various research fields, including international relations,

political economy, economics, conflict and peace research, and public policy studies. I argue that an ambiguous consensus can be based on three different forms of ambiguity: textual ambiguity, institutional ambiguity, and ideational ambiguity. In short, textual ambiguity refers to the possibility that words and phrases might be interpretable in several ways. Institutional ambiguity describes institutions that can be mobilized for several purposes. And ideational ambiguity, finally, exists when ideas can accommodate various – and often contradictory – normative and/or causal beliefs. For the case of structural deficit rules, I show that ideational ambiguity is a key factor allowing for the formation of an ambiguous consensus. Textual and institutional ambiguity also play a role, but rather for the implementation of structural deficit rules in national fiscal frameworks, including – in various forms – independent fiscal councils, and monitoring and correction mechanisms for rule compliance.

The following sections are organized as follows. Section 2 provides a theoretical discussion of different forms of ambiguity underlying ambiguous consensus. Based on the existing literature, it builds a typology including three forms of ambiguity underlying ambiguous consensus: textual, institutional, and ideational ambiguity. The section also shows how most of the broader existing literature on ambiguity corresponds to this typology. Section 3 discusses how the idea of structural deficit rules was developed, rose to prominence, and how these rules were implemented in the eurozone both at the supranational and national level. Section 4 highlights the inherent ambiguities in the concept of structural deficit rules and how they relate to ideational, textual, and institutional ambiguity. Section 5 discusses the main findings of the empirical analysis. It shows how the concept of structural deficit rules allowed social democratic and other left-wing parties better than nominal deficit rules to link discretion-constraining fiscal policy institutions to their broader policy objectives. Section 6 concludes the paper. It summarizes the theoretical and empirical key findings, highlights the limits of the study, and provides an outlook for further research on ambiguity in political decisions and the role of fiscal rules in politics.

2 Three forms of ambiguity underlying ambiguous consensus

In democratic systems, political decisions generally demand some sort of consensus or compromise between different parties (or intra-party factions) and other societal actors. Only this can give sufficient support for the adoption of laws or treaties that establish policies and/or institutions in a specific policy area. Such agreements are, however, not always based on the same understandings of a situation or policy across decision-makers, but rather on what I refer to here as an "ambiguous consensus" (see also Marcus and George 1983; Jegen and Mérand 2013; Steyer and Gilbert 2013). For use in this paper, a consensus on a political decision between different policy actors is ambiguous when it integrates different – often opposing or even contradictory – views of policy problems,

objectives, and the means to achieve them. Other scholars have referred to such decisions as founded on "ambiguous agreement" (Palier 2005) or "ambiguous compromise" (Mahoney and Thelen 2010). In his work on French welfare state reforms, Palier (2005, 131), for example, defines political outcomes due to an ambiguous agreement as "new measures [that] are accepted by a wide range of different groups (political parties, administrations, trade unions, employers and others) who agree on the new measure, but for different reasons and with different interests." Importantly, "they share neither a common vision of the reforms nor the same interest in the measures" (ibid.). Similarly, Mahoney and Thelen (2010, 8) describe ambiguous compromises as institutional outcomes that are the result of the coordination among actors on institutional means even if they differ in their substantive goals.

Much research on political decisions based on ambiguous consensus has been undertaken in the fields of economic and social policy (often dealing with bank bailouts and central bank communication) (e.g., Palier 2005; Jenson 2010; Vinogradov 2010; Vollmer and Diemer 2011; Béland and Cox 2016; Kawamura et al. 2019), defense and conflict resolution policies (many focusing on the Northern Irish conflict) (e.g., Rayroux 2014; Bell and Cavanaugh 1998; Böckenförde 2016; Kartsonaski 2020), international institutions, and European integration (e.g., Jabko 2005; Zahariadis 2007; Oosterveld 2014). What becomes clear from studying these varied literatures is that an ambiguous consensus is not based on a single form of ambiguity, but rather on several different forms. Drawing on the existing research and my own empirical analyses, I reorganize and complete the concepts dealing with ambiguity. I argue that we can distinguish between at least three different forms of ambiguity that can underlie an ambiguous consensus: textual ambiguity, institutional ambiguity, and ideational ambiguity. Table 1 summarizes their definitions, to which extent different forms of ambiguity are coincidental or intended/fabricated, their links to distinctive concepts in the broader literature, and through which empirical examples they have been studied so far. This typology should not imply, however, that an ambiguous consensus leading to a political decision is always based only on one type. In practice, textual, institutional, and ideational ambiguity often overlap and are interdependent in providing the "necessary" ambiguity for an agreement among different political actors.

Textual ambiguity

A first form of ambiguity we can distinguish is textual ambiguity, which refers to the possibility that words and phrases might be interpretable in several ways. As Best (2012, 677) puts it, "when we think of ambiguity, it is generally discursive or textual ambiguity that first comes to mind – the way in which words and phrases can have more than one meaning." Textual ambiguity opens up the meaning of a text to "multiple interpretations because words are ambiguous, or because certain phrases within a document contradict

Table 1 Three types of ambiguity underlying ambiguous consensus

	Textual ambiguity	Institutional ambiguity	Ideational ambiguity		
Definition	Words and phrasing can be interpreted in several ways	Institutions can be mobilized for several purposes	Ideas can accommodate several normative and/or causal beliefs		
Intention vs. coincidence	Generally intentional in the drafting of treaties; Bell and Cavanaugh (1998, 1356) call it a "technique"	Can be coincidental but also manufactured (see Palier 2005; Best 2012)	Can be coincidental but also manufactured (e.g., strategic constructivism [Jabko 2005], idea selection by policy entrepreneurs [Béland and Cox 2016, 432])		
	Constructive ambiguity (e.g., Mitchell 2009; Jegen and Mérand 2013)	Ambiguous agreement (Palier 2005), ambiguous compromise (Mahoney and Thelen 2010)	Polysemic discourse (Jenson 2010), coalition magnets (Béland and Cox 2016)		
Examples	Good Friday Agreement (Bell and Cavanaugh 1998; Dingley 2005; Knox and Carmichael 2005; Mitchell 2009), Tunisian Constitution (Böckenförde 2016), Cen- tral bank communication (see Di Giorgio and Rossi 2012; Wigglesworth 2018; Kawamura et al. 2019)	French welfare system (Palier 2005), public- private partnerships (Steyer and Gilbert 2013)	Ambiguous ideas cover diverse concepts such as the market (Jabko 2005), social investment (Jenson 2010), sustainability, solidarity, social inclusion (Béland and Cox 2016), and structural reforms (Crespy and Vanheuverzwijn 2019)		

Source: Original typology partly based on the work of Best (2012); for other sources see the content of this table.

one another, allowing for selective emphases and interpretations" (ibid.). Especially works dealing with defense and conflict resolution have focused on the influence of textual ambiguity in bringing about ambiguous consensus in domestic and international disputes. The ability of textual ambiguity to allow political adversaries to construct support for common agreements and treaties is captured by the literature under the term of "constructive ambiguity." This is not a fourth form of ambiguity but rather describes that different forms of ambiguity might be used in a constructive fashion, overcoming otherwise insurmountable antagonism. Originally coined by former US Secretary of State Henry Kissinger in the 1960s, such textual ambiguity is often used as a deliberate "technique" during difficult negotiations (see Bell and Cavanaugh 1998, 1356). "The premise is that ambiguously worded text can create opportunities for advancing the interests of both parties, under the assumption that tackling the most difficult issues in an unambiguous way would cause a breakdown in negotiations" (Friedman 2017, 385, referring to Snodderly 2011). In the context of the Good Friday Agreement, several scholars have criticized the constructive quality of textual ambiguity, stressing that it would merely "postpone real agreement until some future date" (Bell and Cavanaugh 1998, 1356) and lead to "abnormal politics" (Dingley 2005, 18). In this view, (textual) ambiguity might rather be destructive than constructive. Others, such as Mitchell (2009), however, have drawn more favorable conclusions from a deliberate constructive ambiguity approach.

Institutional ambiguity

A second form of ambiguity is institutional ambiguity, describing institutions that can be mobilized for several purposes. As pointed out by Best (2012, 677), "Organisational policies do not only live in the formal texts that define them but also in the ongoing ways in which they are applied on a daily basis - in the form of rules, practices, procedures, and guidelines." The interplay of these different elements, as well as their interpretation and enforcement by actors, can allow for a significant degree of ambiguity and thus provide a foundation for ambiguous consensus. Institutional ambiguity can stem from the coexistence of different rules and procedures inside individual institutions (see Best 2012; Sheingate 2010) but also from the coexistence of several institutions inside a particular policy area (Palier 2005; Mahoney and Thelen 2010). Best (2012, 677) distinguishes three forms of institutional ambiguity, which can be applied to both intra-institutional and inter-institutional ambiguity. First, institutional ambiguity can arise from the authority of institutional actors to (re-)interpret policies. Second, institutional ambiguity can stem from the ambiguity inherent in the forms of measurement and evaluation that are applied to steer and monitor policy implementation. And third, institutional ambiguity can be based on the fuzziness of the boundaries between different policies and institutions (ibid., 678). Palier (2005, 138), for example, shows how an ambiguous agreement based on institutional ambiguity allowed for an incremental but cumulative transformation of the French welfare system. While many of the politically agreed-upon measures were "first introduced to 'complete' or repair the existing system, [...] they gradually bec[a]me the base for a new type or logic of social protection within that system" (ibid.). That the institutional ambiguity of coexisting institutions (in the forms of rules) can also be played out against each other creatively is a prominent feature in Sheingate's (2010) analysis of rules in the US House of Representatives. As these two examples highlight, institutional ambiguity can be introduced coincidentally, but it can also be exploited consciously by different policy actors.

Ideational ambiguity

To the existing notions of textual and institutional ambiguity this paper adds the notion of ideational ambiguity, which exists when ideas can accommodate various – and often contradictory – normative and/or causal beliefs. Some authors (e.g., Dunlop et al. 2012; Maycroft 2017) have used the term "ideational ambiguity" before, but they do not provide any clear definition of it. But while it may not have been formulated in this way previously, there are several existing works that engage with what I consider to be ideational ambiguity (see e.g., Jabko 2005; Jenson 2010; Béland and Cox 2016; Crespy and Vanheuverzwijn 2019). In principle, ideas serve as a means to interpret the world in a normative and causal manner, and to subsequently act in it (Emmerij, Jolly, and Weiss 2005, 214). They provide specific problem definitions and policy objectives and give guidance on the strategies and techniques to achieve these objectives. But especially

ideas as concepts might be open to different and often even contradictory interpretations of underlying policy problems, the final goals of political action, or the exact means to achieve them. In my view, ideational ambiguity then implies that ideas can accommodate several and often contradictory normative and/or causal beliefs. Recent scholarship has highlighted the ambiguous nature of many key ideas in politics. Jabko (2005, 7), for example, has shown how the idea of "the market [...] brought together otherwise divergent views of the world," allowing for further European integration in the late 1980s/early 1990s. As demonstrated by his analysis, the creation of the Economic and Monetary Union "was peddled either as a further extension of the market logic or as a way to reassert some measure of political sovereignty over the economy" (ibid.). Other ideas shown to be susceptible to ideational ambiguity are, for example, "social investment" (Jenson 2010, 74), "sustainability," "social inclusion" (Béland and Cox 2016, 431), and "structural reforms" (Crespy and Vanheuverzwijn 2019). While some ideas might inherently have a higher potential for ambiguity, political entrepreneurs are often interested in identifying, manufacturing, and promoting policy ideas that have the capacity to create an ambiguous consensus on a political decision across policymakers. Political actors thus might engage in "strategic constructivism" (Jabko 2005), "polysemic discourse" (Jenson 2010), and/or use ambiguous ideas as "coalition magnets" (Béland and Cox 2016). Ideas can come in the form of individual ideas or idea clusters (see Blyth 2002), and on different levels of generality (Schmidt 2010, 3). They can span deeper philosophical ideas (e.g., Campbell 2004) through programmatic ideas or paradigms (Hall 1993) to concrete policy ideas (Kingdon [1984] 2014). A paradigmatic idea cluster containing a considerable degree of ambiguity is, for example, neoliberalism, "consisting of ideas about a minimalist state, individual responsibility, deregulated economies and productive efficiencies" (Béland and Cox 2016, 431, referring to Schmidt and Thatcher 2013). Structural deficit rules, which I will discuss in more detail below, correspond more closely to an individual policy idea. This policy idea can, however, be linked up with some more paradigmatic idea clusters, such as Keynesianism. As we will see below, ideational ambiguity has been key in bringing about an ambiguous consensus on structural deficit rules. The other two forms of ambiguity have also played a role in facilitating an ambiguous consensus but are only discussed briefly in this paper.

3 Origins and implementations of structural deficit rules

From nominal to structural deficit rules in Europe

Over the last thirty years, fiscal rules have become ubiquitous in Europe, both at the EU and national level. The principal objective of fiscal rules is to reduce the fiscal policy discretion of political decision-makers by putting numerical limits on public deficits, debt, and expenditures. The main rationale behind fiscal rules is to counteract what public choice scholars have called a "public deficit bias" in fiscal policymaking (see Debrun

2011; Kirchgässner 2013). This economics literature has identified what it believes to be an excessive accumulation of public debt among Western advanced countries since the 1970s (Calmfors and Wren-Lewis 2011, 1). In response, public choice proponents have theorized several mechanisms that could account for this bias² and suggested several institutional solutions to overcome it. Among them, fiscal rules have become a preferred remedy (Kopits and Symanski 1998; Schaechter et al. 2012). Other works have also stressed the importance of mechanisms to monitor and enforce these fiscal rules, and highlighted the usefulness of independent fiscal councils to take a key role in fiscal surveillance (Debrun et al. 2013). In addition, changes in fiscal governance and budgetary procedures have also been proposed to rein in the "public deficit bias" (Hallerberg, Strauch, and von Hagen 2009).

With the establishment of the EMU, a key question was how to ensure economic and fiscal convergence under a common currency, and how to avoid an "overuse" of the "monetary commons" (see von Hagen 1991; Eichengreen, Frieden, and von Hagen 1995). As fiscal union and extensive economic policy coordination were ruled out by national governments, the Maastricht criteria, and the SGP, a set of European fiscal rules with accompanying surveillance and sanction mechanisms was established. Two central fiscal rules were introduced, a nominal 3 percent deficit-to-GDP rule, as well as a 60 percent debt-to-GDP rule. While constituting rather arbitrary fiscal rule limits, at the time they were broadly deemed to leave sufficient space for national fiscal policymaking across the economic cycle. In addition, among Northern EU countries this was mainly considered an external constraint for Southern member states rather than a self-constraint. In the early 2000s, however, both Germany and France ran into difficulties in keeping their deficits inside the European rule limits. This resulted in a standoff with the European Commission, which wanted to impose sanctions on the two biggest EU member states. The latter, however, blocked these sanctions in the European Council, leading to an institutional struggle between key EU institutions, including the European Court of Justice (see Crawford 2007). Germany and France argued that, against initial assumptions, the nominal 3 percent deficit rule was not adapted to integrate the fiscal consequences of "severe economic downturns" and the short-term costs of structural reforms. As a solution, the Commission proposed a reform package of the SGP which was to incorporate these concerns while strengthening particularly its preventive arm (see Dyson 2014; Mabbett and Schelkle 2016). In doing so, it picked up on the concept of structural balance that was already used by the French finance ministry internally (not as a fiscal rule but to monitor the evolution of fiscal policymaking [Interview FR Finance Ministry 1]) and made it a part of the SGP, enshrined in the country-specific mediumterm objectives, which generally demanded structural deficit limits of 0.5 percent or 1 percent respectively. With the Great Recession and the subsequent European debt crisis, fiscal rule reform became a key issue on both the supranational and national level. In

The three main mechanisms identified in the literature are political rent-seeking (see Buchanan and Wagner [1977] 2000), common pool problems (see von Hagen and Poterba 1999), and time inconsistency (see Persson and Svensson 1989).

the absence of accommodating European Central Bank (ECB) policies,³ strengthened fiscal rules were considered a signaling tool to indicate to financial markets that countries were serious about fiscal consolidation efforts and sustainable public finances. A key reform at the European level in response to the debt crisis was the agreement on the intergovernmental Treaty on Stability, Coordination and Governance (TSCG), which required its signatories to implement national structural deficit rules as part of the so-called Fiscal Compact.

The implementation of national structural deficit rules

But even before the adoption of the Fiscal Compact, national structural deficit rules had already been introduced among eurozone member states. While initially reluctant to see a further strengthening of fiscal rules at the national and European level, socialist/ social democratic parties in Germany, Austria, and France finally supported such rules while in government, or at least followed through with their implementation. I argue that the inherent ambiguities in structural deficit rules allowed for such an outcome, facilitating the acceptance of more stringent fiscal rules for center-left and left-wing parties. The first step was taken by Germany, where a so-called debt brake based on the structural deficit concept was the main result of a constitutional reform of financial relations between the federal level (Bund) and federal states (Länder) in 2009. It was voted in by the governing conservative CDU/CSU and the social democratic SPD in the lower chamber (Bundestag) of the German parliament (the liberal FDP abstained). In addition, the constitutional reform was supported by the FDP in the upper chamber (Bundesrat) of the German parliament to ensure the necessary two-thirds majorities in both chambers. The Green Party, while not voting for the reform in the Bundestag, was in principle also supportive of the idea of structural deficit rules, supporting the proposal in two federal states (Bremen and Hamburg) in which the party was part of coalition governments at the time. In 2013, a subsequent fiscal rule reform added a similar structural deficit rule as ordinary legislation to the existing one to fulfil all the requirements of the Fiscal Compact. In Austria, several periodic "stability pacts" containing nominal deficit rules - but with their trajectory adapted to the economic cycle were passed from the late 1990s. They were adopted as so-called 15a agreements, a sort of intra-state treaty between the different Austrian governmental levels. In 2007, a constitutional budget law reform supported by all parliamentary parties introduced multiannual nominal expenditure ceilings. These ceilings, however, include budgetary items that are allowed to "breathe" with the economic cycle. A governing "Grand Coalition" of the social democratic SPÖ and the conservative ÖVP passed its own debt brake based on a structural deficit rule for the federal level in 2011, subsequently extended to

Mario Draghi's "whatever it takes" speech took place only in July 2012, when fiscal rule reforms were generally under implementation or had already been completed across the European continent.



Figure 1 Timeline of fiscal rule reforms inside the EMU, and the three country cases

Dark grey = Broader reforms of fiscal governance Light grey = Failed reform effort

SGP: Stability and Growth Pact ÖStP: Austrian Stability Pact

LOLFSS: Organic law on social security budget laws

LOLF: Organic law on budget laws

the country's federal states in the 2012 Austrian Stability Pact (ÖStP 2012). In France, a constitutional fiscal rule reform including an abstract balanced budget requirement was approved in 2008. A subsequent reform proposal based on the structural deficit concept failed, however, to gain sufficient parliamentary support in 2011 (only carried by the governing conservative UMP). Following the electoral win of the socialist PS in 2012, a structural deficit rule implementing the obligations stemming from the strengthened European fiscal rule set was passed as an organic law with the votes of the new governing party, assisted by the center-right opposition forces.

Structural deficit rules were thus supported by all governing social democratic/socialist parties across the three country cases studied (this finding also applies to the cases of Slovakia, Ireland, and Portugal). Importantly, the introduction of some national structural deficit rules (in Germany and Austria), and discussion of such rules (in France) actually preceded the agreement on the Fiscal Compact at the European level. And while Green parties did not generally vote for the introduction of such rules, they were often supportive of their principle even as opposition parties. Figure 1 summarizes the different fiscal rule reforms, at the supranational level and for the three country cases, including failed reform efforts and broader reforms of fiscal governance.

4 The inherent ambiguities in structural deficit rules

Several features of structural deficit rules and the accompanying mechanisms and institutions make them particularly conducive to building the foundations for an ambiguous consensus. The subsequent arguments and findings are based on theoretical reflections as well as the content of electoral manifestos, parliamentary debates, and interviews with policymakers and experts at the European and national level, often those involved in the establishment or the management of such fiscal rules. They provide the foundations for the subsequent in-depth empirical analysis of the three country cases.

Ideational ambiguity in structural deficit rules

Ambiguities in the underlying normative and causal beliefs of structural deficit rules exist mainly with regard to their problem definitions and final objectives. As such fiscal rules are rather concrete policy ideas, the specific means to overcome problems and achieve political goals are not typically a key component of their ideational ambiguity. But while the overall thrust of fiscal rules to reduce the fiscal policy discretion of political decision-makers (as a means) is generally shared among actors, underlying problem definitions can differ across political and ideological camps.

Conservative and liberal parties (and their voters) tend to view public deficits and debt as a general policy problem that must be addressed (see e.g., Dafflon and Pujol 2001; Krogstrup and Wälti 2008; Persson and Svensson 1989). Often informed by the policy input from public choice scholars, fiscal rules - in their view - serve to reduce a universal "public deficit bias." While conservatives and liberals are traditionally supportive of fiscal rules, the fundamental nature of the problem also implies that they care less about the exact design of fiscal rules. The increasing prominence of structural deficit rules thus did not do much to change their support for such rules. In contrast, the problem definitions justifying the use of structural deficit rules among social democratic parties have traditionally been narrower or even non-existent. Especially during the 1970s, center-left and left-wing parties viewed public deficits as a legitimate means to achieve full employment and to steer the macroeconomy (see e.g., Standard 2011). Rather than being a problem in themselves, public deficits were perceived as a tool to address other policy problems. This type of view has changed during the last decades, also under the influence of increasingly independent monetary policymaking, and gave room for restricted left-wing problem definitions of public deficits. While continuing to hail the usefulness of public deficits during economic downturns, social democrats increasingly stressed that public deficits were not sufficiently reduced during economic boom phases. This was criticized as an incomplete application of Keynesianism. While social democrats were generally sceptical of fiscal rules, the idea of structural deficit rules allowed them to attach it to this more left-wing problem definition of fiscal policymaking (Interview AT SPÖ, Interview AT Green Party).

In terms of policy objectives, there are two elements to be considered for understanding the ideational ambiguity of structural balances. First, structural deficit rules are – at least theoretically - unambiguous in the objective of reducing public deficits across the economic cycle. Here, ambiguity rather arises from different interpretations of what the economic cycle is, how it can be adequately measured across time, and to what extent structural deficit rules are able to reflect it. This is, however, rather a technical element of institutional ambiguity. Second, a considerable degree of ideational ambiguity remains, however, regarding the broader implications of structural deficit rules on fiscal policymaking. As conservative and liberal parties generally prefer "smaller" states (Persson and Svensson 1989), introducing a fiscal rule is deemed useful in keeping the growth of state expenditures in check and thus allowing for some control of the state's fiscal role in the economy, especially should more left-wing parties come to power. Both nominal and structural deficit rules make it difficult to substantially increase expenditures during economic downturns, but the latter can also rein in expenditure growth during economic booms. Social democratic parties, on the other hand, traditionally prefer "larger" states, because this gives politicians more political capacity for redistribution and macroeconomic steering. In their view, nominal fiscal rules especially are thus problematic because they tend to "bite" in economic downturns when political intervention would be most needed but lack a constraining nature in periods of strong economic growth. For center-left parties, structural deficit rules could thus be a means to keep more right-wing parties in check when in power, as they give less room for tax cuts during economic boom times. Structural deficit rules can thus potentially cater to both right-wing and left-wing parties. This ideational ambiguity inherent to structural deficit rules thus, on the one hand, allows conservative and liberal parties to extend their traditional fiscal rule support to this type of rule, while, on the other, being considerably more compatible with problem definitions and policy objectives of social democratic and left-wing parties than nominal deficit rules.

Textual and institutional ambiguity in structural deficit rules

Beyond ideational ambiguity, the legal texts that enshrine structural deficit rules in the supranational and national legal orders also contain textual and institutional ambiguity, partially beyond the confines of national politics and institutions.

In terms of textual ambiguity, there are two aspects to be considered. First, there can be ambiguity about the meaning of certain words in specific policy and country contexts. The same term – e.g., *rule* – can have different meanings in different countries, where some view rules as strict boundaries while others see them as more flexible guidelines for (fiscal) policymaking (Interview DE German Council of Economic Experts, Interview FR Court of Auditors, Interview OECD). Second, textual ambiguity can arise from challenges in translation, where specific words or formulations are difficult to translate

into different languages (see Hassenteufel and de Maillard 2013; de Maillard and Le Goff 2009; Ricoeur 2004). The French government, for example, struggled for months to figure out whether the Fiscal Compact required the French state to adopt a national structural deficit rule at the constitutional level or not. With the French version of the Fiscal Compact considered to be unclear on this point, a comparison with the German and English versions of the text helped to consolidate the understanding that no constitutional amendment was necessary to implement the contents of the Fiscal Compact domestically (Interview FR Finance Ministry 2).

Regarding institutional ambiguity, it is important to consider the intra-institutional as well as the inter-institutional ambiguity of the legal texts laying the ground for fiscal rules and accompanying monitoring and enforcement mechanisms. First, intra-institutional ambiguity can arise when there is a mismatch in the interplay between fiscal rules and accompanying compliance mechanisms. Clear and stringent fiscal rules can be rendered "toothless" by enforcement mechanisms that are difficult to trigger or to put to work. Increased institutional ambiguity is the consequence. Second, inter-institutional ambiguity can be the consequence of fiscal rule complexity, when several – and sometimes contradictory – fiscal rules are put into place in the domestic and/or supranational sphere (see Sheingate 2010). While additional fiscal rules should normally render the overall set more discretion-constraining, the increasing complexity also creates more institutional ambiguity about which rules are to be applied when and how (Interview OECD, Interview Rating Agency).

5 Social democratic support for structural deficit rules in three countries

A problem definition of public deficits shared by social democratic parties

Public deficits and debt play an ambivalent role in fiscal policymaking. They can be a useful tool to steer or support the macroeconomy, to finance productive public investments and serve as a "safe asset" in financial markets. But they can also lead to ever higher public debt service costs, demanding tax increases or expenditure cuts, and ultimately even threaten the solvency of sovereigns. Parties across the political spectrum have traditionally stressed different parts of these aspects. While conservative and liberal parties tend to focus on the potential negative sides of public deficits, social democratic and other left-wing parties generally stress their potential positive sides. These generally also correspond with their broader policy preferences. An analysis of electoral manifestos in the three studied country cases since the 1980s shows that center-right parties tend to call for a stronger fiscal consolidation than center-left parties (see Table 2).

Country case	Conservative and liberal parties (CR)	Socialist/Social democratic and Green parties (CL)	CR fiscal objectives	CL fiscal objectives
Germany	CDU/CSU, FDP	SPD, Green Party	1.76	1.44
Austria	ÖVP, NEOS	SPÖ, Green Party	1.67	0.55
France	UMP/LR, UDF/MoDem, LREM	PS, Green Party	0.76	0.43

Table 2 Fiscal objectives of center-right and center-left parties according to their electoral manifestos

Note: The fiscal consolidation objectives of center-right and center-left parties were coded in an ordinal fashion, stretching from party-specific goals of "solid fiscal policies" over "balanced budgets" to "debt repayment," including nine categories. A higher number indicates more restrictive fiscal policy goals. The two party groups include all parliamentary parties that do not fall into the category of populist or far-left/far-right parties.

Sources: Own analysis of electoral manifestos for all parliamentary elections from 1986 to 2017 in the three countries.

The different emphases on public deficits of more right- and left-wing parties do not mean, however, that left-wing parties necessarily run higher deficits than right-wing parties once in office. Research has shown (see e.g., Pettersson-Lidbom 2001; Volkerink and de Haan 2001) that there are little to no differences in terms of public deficits between these party families.

The scepticism of conservative and liberal parties towards public deficits also makes them traditionally more supportive of institutional constraints on fiscal policy discretion, such as fiscal rules. Electoral manifestos, party platform programs, and interviews with policymakers reveal that center-right parties call more often for the introduction and/or strengthening of fiscal rules. In the studied party programs across the three country cases for the period 1986 to 2017, it was only conservative and liberal parties that pledged to put into place new or more stringent fiscal rules. This was even the case before the concept of structural deficit rules became dominant in fiscal policy discussions. Social democratic and other left-wing parties have been traditionally more sceptical towards fiscal rules, viewing them as overly constraining the fiscal policy discretion of political decision-makers. Considering public deficits, in principle, as a legitimate fiscal policy tool to address other policy problems, center-left parties have feared the negative consequences of fiscal rules for their capacity to achieve these policy objectives, when necessary by using public deficits. They have also been critical of nominal deficit rules as they would lead to procyclical effects – excessive austerity – during economic recessions.

In Germany, this applies, for example, to the 2007 party platform program of the CDU and the 1998 FDP electoral manifesto. In Austria, electoral manifestos of the ÖVP and the NEOS called for a strengthening of the main national fiscal rule in 2017. And in France, the UMP/LR (2007) and the UDF/MoDem (2012) equally called for constitutional fiscal rules. Whenever fiscal rules were mentioned in the electoral manifestos of social democratic or Green parties in the three country cases, it was either to merely acknowledge existing fiscal rules and to comply with their fiscal limits (e. g., SPD 2013, German Green Party 2013) or to stress sceptical points of view or the need to flexibilize existing fiscal rules (e. g., SPÖ 2017; Austrian Green Party 2017; German Green Party 2009).

Due to the dominance of the neoclassical synthesis in mainstream economics over the course of the last decades, countercyclical policymaking during crises has, however, also largely become accepted by conservative and liberal parties, allowing at least for a temporal disregard of fiscal rules. With periodically growing public indebtedness since the 1960s among Western advanced economies, phases of economic growth became the focus of analysis, as public debt levels stagnated rather than decreased ahead of the subsequent economic downturns. Economists and public officials across eurozone member states increasingly saw this as a problem of macroeconomic and budgetary policymaking. They highlighted that Keynesian policies were insufficiently or only partly implemented across the economic cycle. As a member of the Austrian fiscal council put it for the Austrian case, "when things are going badly, the fact that deficits are made then was always the consensus across all parties, but then it comes to repayment and there are problems because something has to be cut back, and that is why we have never really managed this second phase of a Keynesian policy" (Interview AT Fiscal Council).⁵ An economist and high-level public official of the French finance ministry's treasury department (DG Trésor) stated for the French case that the country was "having a lot of trouble rebalancing its budget on the 'high side' of the economic cycle. Because a deficit on the 'low side' of the cycle is normal, but the problem is rather in the 'high phase'" (Interview FR Finance Ministry 3).

During the 1990s and 2000s, social democratic and other left-wing parties increasingly acknowledged this interpretation of a partial implementation of Keynesianism since the 1960s. They shared the view that adequate "deficit spending" during economic recessions was not followed by sufficient fiscal consolidation efforts in the following economic boom phases. In addition, they considered this problem insufficiently addressed or even worsened by nominal deficit rules such as the Maastricht criteria, which had been in place since the 1990s.⁶ SPD politician Peer Steinbrück, German finance minister from 2005 to 2009 and a driving force behind the country's debt brake, for example, argued during the deliberations of the Second Federalism Commission that

in good economic times, nobody demands corresponding savings or debt repayment. This has caused us difficulties in recent decades [...] which consisted in the fact that in this context only the half and not the full 'Keynes' was realized. To that extent, this interpretation has occasionally brought this man into discredit. (Steinbrück, SPD, FöKo II 2007)

⁵ Similarly, as a member of the Austrian parliamentary budget office highlighted, fiscal policymaking "has always worked quite well in bad times, but the Keynesian system has always worked very badly when there have been better economic times. [...] That we have, in part, pursued a procyclical policy" (Interview AT Parliamentary Budget Office).

In contrast to most other eurozone member states, Germany has had a constitutional nominal deficit rule (Art. 115 of the Basic Law) in place since the end of the Second World War, reformed only in 1969 before the introduction of the German debt brake in 2009. In its 1969 version, the deficit rule demanded a balanced federal budget in nominal terms, except for public investments and in times of "macroeconomic imbalance."

During the vote on the structural deficit rule in the German upper chamber, the Bundesrat, Steinbrück criticized the previously existing fiscal rule which "may have followed a Keynes-style approach, but it has never really understood Keynes [...]" (Steinbrück, SPD, Deutscher Bundesrat 2009). He specified that this was not Keynes's fault, but how politicians interpreted his work:

In the light of the first major economic crisis, he suggested the concept of 'deficit spending', of countercyclical budgetary policy to compensate for such economic downturns. We have made use of this. We have launched credit-financed economic stimulus packages [...]. But the other side of what he advised us to do, which was to repay the debt in the better times, has basically never worked. (ibid.)

This was a departure from the traditional center-left position that considered public deficits as a generally useful tool in macroeconomic and fiscal policymaking towards a restricted problem definition of public deficits. By arguing that fiscal policies were only an incomplete application of Keynesianism, this allowed the concept of structural deficit rules to be attached to the search for instruments and procedures for achieving a more countercyclical fiscal stance across the whole economic cycle and not only during economic downturns. While nominal deficit rules were increasingly considered to have procyclical effects (too much constraint during recessions and little or no constraint in growth periods), structural deficit rules seemed to be a legitimate replacement that improved the situation from a center-left position (Interview AT SPÖ, Interview AT Green Party), while also being acceptable to center-right parties that considered institutional discretion constraints to be generally necessary for fiscal policymaking.

Structural deficit rules and countercyclical policymaking

A key feature of structural deficit rules is that they allow – better than most other forms of fiscal rules – institutional constraints on fiscal policy discretion to be linked with the idea of Keynesian countercyclical policymaking. At least in theory, the basic logic of structural deficit rules is in line with Keynes's support for "deficit spending" during economic downturns and fiscal consolidation during economic boom times. It is thus considerably more compatible with social democratic thinking about fiscal policymaking than previous forms of fiscal rules. In different fiscal rule reforms since the mid-2000s, center-left parties have thus argued for the usefulness of the structural deficit concept and its compatibility with social democratic and other left-wing policy positions.

When both Germany and France did not comply with the 3 percent Maastricht deficit criteria in the early 2000s due to a period of low growth, both countries blocked sanctions and pushed for a reform of the SGP to better account for countercyclical deficits during economic downturns. In Germany, the Red-Green coalition of SPD chancellor Gerhard Schröder endorsed a strengthening of the structural deficit dimension vis-àvis the nominal deficit approach. As the 2005 electoral manifesto of the SPD stated,

the consolidation of public finances must be implemented in line with the economic cycle and must not endanger growth. [...] This is one of the reasons why we have modernized the Stability and Growth Pact [...] [which] will allow the automatic stabilizers to operate in periods of "economic weakness" without directly exceeding the permitted 3 percent deficit objective. (SPD-Parteivorstand 2005)

Domestically, as part of the first Grand Coalition in several decades, the SPD began to embrace the concept of structural deficit rules for a reform of Germany's national fiscal framework inside of the Second Federalism Commission. This Commission was in place from 2006 to 2009, with the goal of reforming the financial relationship between Bund and Länder. When discussing the broad trajectory of negotiations at a closed conference dedicated to a reform of the country's fiscal framework, SPD finance minister Peer Steinbrück stated that they wanted "a symmetrical consideration of the economic situation. The new rule should therefore not only create one-sided leeway for debt in the economic downturn, but also ensure that surpluses are generated in line with the economy in the upswing" (Steinbrück, SPD, FöKo II 2007). After several years of negotiations, a compromise on the German debt brake was found in the first half of 2009. In his defense of the new structural deficit rule, Steinbrück argued that he wanted to clear up a few misunderstandings, such as that it would

limit the cyclically induced scope for countercyclical behavior by the federal states and the federal government. This is simply not true. You [...] know that this deficit rule is characterized by a structural component and by a cyclical component and that in such a situation it is of course still completely open to your [Länder] budgets and the federal budget to pursue countercyclical policies. (Steinbrück, SPD, Deutscher Bundesrat 2009)

Ingolf Deubel, SPD finance minister of the federal state Rhineland-Palatinate, added that the new structural deficit rule would give the different public budgets

the room [...] to breathe with the economic cycle, but symmetrically, not as in the previous finance constitution, according to which one only breathed in bad times and budgets could be ruined in good times, and the possibility to do what is necessary in emergencies and disasters. (Deubel, SPD, Deutscher Bundesrat 2009)

He stressed that the structural deficit rule gave the state more space than the pre-existing constitution to act in a fashion consistent with countercyclical policymaking. While not explicitly voting for the structural deficit rule in the German parliament (the necessary two-thirds majority was ensured by the CDU/CSU, SPD, and FDP), the German Green Party in principle also supported this approach. As its 2009 electoral manifesto stated, they wanted a debt brake that could "breathe" with the economic cycle (Bündnis 90/Die Grünen 2009).

⁷ His SPD party colleague, parliamentarian Petra Merkel, also stressed that "not to make debts is not an objective. To incur limited debts in difficult times and pay them back in good times, that is a goal" (Merkel, SPD, FöKo II 2007).

This was also acknowledged in a written declaration added to the minutes of the parliamentary debate on the German debt brake in the Bundestag (29.05.2009) by Florian Pronold and several other parliamentarians of the SPD.

In Austria, domestic fiscal rules had become an issue since the implementation of the Maastricht deficit criterion in the national legal order in 1999 through the so-called Austrian Stability Pact. Periodically reformed since the late 1990s, it laid out nominal public deficit trajectories for both the federal level and the federal states (Bundesländer) in a medium-term outlook. Over the years, a key issue of contention was that these trajectories were built in line with countercyclical policymaking. While in opposition during the period from 1999 to 2006, the SPÖ continuously stressed the importance of aiming towards balanced budgets across the economic cycle rather than for any particular year.¹⁰ In the early 2000s, a right-wing government consisting of the conservative ÖVP and the right-wing populist FPÖ set out a "zero deficit" (Nulldefizit) as a central policy objective in the government program, adapting the Austrian Stability Pact in this regard in 2001. While generally supportive of fiscal consolidation and a balanced budget during a period of strong economic growth at the turn of the millennium, SPÖ parliamentarian Hannes Bauer warned during the parliamentary debate on the reform that - with an economic downturn in sight - the government was running overly restrictive fiscal policies not compatible with the evolution of the economic cycle (Bauer, SPÖ, Nationalrat 2001). 11 The Green Party spokesperson, Alexander Van der Bellen, urged the Austrian finance minister to promote countercyclical thinking on the European level and to advocate for a reform of the SGP:

Much would already have been achieved if the famous deficit limits in the stability pact were to be applied to the structural deficit – not to the "current" deficit, but to the structural deficit. That would give us some more leeway in responding to cyclical conditions. (Van der Bellen, Die Grünen, Nationalrat 2001)¹²

The 2005 reform of the Austrian Stability Pact saw similar concerns from the center-left parties in the Austrian parliament. As Christoph Matznetter (SPÖ) stressed, his party could not support the proposed fiscal rule reform because "in the end, it approves a federal budget policy in which, at the wrong time of the economic cycle, a budget trajectory was chosen which worsened economic growth [...] through a recessive fiscal policy" and which was reversed in the following growth period through tax cuts, leading to procyclical policymaking all across the economic cycle (Matznetter, SPÖ, Nationalrat 2004). Becoming the largest party in the subsequent elections, the SPÖ formed another Grand Coalition with the conservative ÖVP from 2006 to 2017. During this period,

It is also important to acknowledge that the Austrian Stability Pacts were generally negotiated with the domestic fiscal equalization scheme between the different levels of government.

¹⁰ Hannes Bauer (SPÖ) highlighted, while deeming a balanced budget "generally valid and also correct," that "this should be seen over an entire economic cycle and not just for one year" (Bauer, SPÖ, Nationalrat 2001).

¹¹ Alexander Van der Bellen (Green Party) also told the government to allow for the functioning of the automatic stabilizers in the national budget (Van der Bellen, Die Grünen, Nationalrat 2001).

Werner Kogler, at the time the budgetary and finance spokesperson of the Green Party, further argued that his party could have potentially supported the fiscal rule trajectory if it would have given some more room for maneuver in case of an economic downturn (Kogler, Die Grünen, Nationalrat 2001).

the social democrats supported a number of fiscal rule reforms, which were linked to the concept of structural expenditure and deficit rules. In 2007, a constitutional budget law reform was approved by all parliamentary parties. It was drawn up by Gerhard Steger, the head of the finance ministry's budget section and a long-standing SPÖ party member. Creating a medium-term budgetary framework, the reform foresaw voting for multiannual expenditure ceilings in nominal terms, but which allowed for deviations in those budgetary items that were susceptible to cyclical changes. It also prescribed a balanced budget across the economic cycle without, however, defining a clear fiscal rule limit. Overall, the budget law reform was hailed by SPÖ politicians such as Christoph Matznetter and the party's budget and finance spokesperson, Kai Jan Krainer. The latter stressed during the parliamentary debate that the reform introduced "a sort of countercyclical budget effect" (Krainer, SPÖ, Nationalrat 2007). Bruno Rossmann of the oppositional Green Party, and part of the party's leftist faction (in contrast to other key party members such as the economists Van der Bellen and Kogler), however, criticized the introduction of a balanced budget over the economic cycle, pointing out that "economists argue about how long a business cycle lasts and whether it exists as all" (Rossmann, Die Grünen, Nationalrat 2007). Ahead of the agreement on the Fiscal Compact, in 2011 the Austrian government proposed a constitutional debt brake similar to the German one.¹³ As it was not supported by any opposition party, it was, however, only passed as an ordinary law reform of the annual budget law. ¹⁴ With the Austrian Stability Pact 2012, a permanent structural deficit rule was subsequently introduced for both the federal level and the Bundesländer.¹⁵ The most detailed discussion on its countercyclical aspects took place in the parliamentary debate on the ESM and the Fiscal Compact, which was tightly linked to the adoption of the Austrian Stability Pact itself. In this debate, Andreas Schieder (SPÖ) - similar to Peer Steinbrück in the German case - aimed at defusing left-wing concerns about the implemented fiscal rule. He argued that "the structural deficit is the deficit adjusted for cyclical effects. This means that the costs of

¹³ This was preceded by calls from eminent members of the SPÖ such as Hannes Androsch (a former SPÖ finance minister) to introduce "an intelligent debt brake across the economic cycle, like Switzerland introduced in 2001" (Kugler 2010).

The Austrian Chancellor Werner Faymann (SPÖ) hailed the proposed fiscal rule reform for including sufficient room for maneuver during economic downturns and would include at the same time demands to "repay" deficits during phases of stronger economic growth (Faymann, SPÖ, Nationalrat 2011). The Green Party's chairperson, Eva Glawischnig-Piesczek, stressed that while the party would have been able to accept the principle of a structural deficit rule (despite fundamental criticisms that existed), it did not support a constitutional reform because the government did not accept the introduction of wealth taxes in exchange for their approval (Glawischnig-Piesczek, Die Grünen, Nationalrat 2011).

Werner Kogler (Green Party) highlighted the ambivalent position of the Austrian Greens towards the proposed structural deficit rule and the internal conflict that existed between the more or less leftist factions inside the party. He stressed that "using the structural deficit as the main indicator for this debt brake is still cleverer than the administrative or Maastricht deficit" as "a certain degree of fluctuation in the economic cycle is permissible." However, he also said that the concrete rule limit was "still relatively tight" and that there would be significant problems for the actual calculation of the structural deficit, leading to a "great deal of scepticism" (Kogler, Die Grünen, Nationalrat 2012b).

the economic downturn would be deducted from the structural deficit and make it possible for cyclical fluctuations and the associated automatic stabilizers to work," which would not endanger the country's social security through expenditure cuts during economic downturns (Schieder, SPÖ, Nationalrat 2012a).

In France, the principle of balanced budgets - however, without any clear fiscal rule limits - was introduced in the French constitution in 2008, made possible by the support of a few oppositional socialist PS parliamentarians. Subsequently, the conservative UMP government under President Nicolas Sarkozy ventured another constitutional reform project in 2011 to introduce so-called programming laws. These laws could have served to lay out structural deficit trajectories for the French public budget. While the parliamentary debates on the proposed constitutional amendment centered heavily on the issue of structural deficits, the PS used the concept mainly to criticize the conservative government's fiscal policymaking over the previous years in which structural deficit had been consistently "high" across the economic cycle. PS politicians such as Henri Emmanuelli and Marc Goua stressed that the UMP had not followed any of the existing fiscal rules at the European and national level, undermining their credibility while increasing public deficits and debt. As Goua contended "replacing political will with yet another rule will not be enough to solve this serious problem" (Goua, PS, Assemblée nationale 2011). Lacking the necessary support for a constitutional reform, the project was abandoned. Sarkozy nevertheless signed the intergovernmental Fiscal Compact ahead of the 2012 presidential elections, leaving the Treaty's ratification to his successor, the socialist François Hollande. Initially, Hollande ran on an electoral platform that called for a renegotiation of the Fiscal Compact. The socialist government, however, failed in changing the content of the Treaty, rather complementing it with a "pact for growth and employment" for the European Union while accepting the Fiscal Compact's domestic ratification. While generally sceptical of fiscal rules, the governing PS changed its stance and - at least discursively - accepted the countercyclical properties of its main structural deficit rule. In the parliamentary debate on the ratification of the Fiscal Compact, PS parliamentarian Estelle Grelier thus stressed in response to leftist critiques that "this treaty does not prohibit states from mobilizing stabilizers and conducting countercyclical Keynesian policies" (Grelier, PS, Assemblée nationale 2012a). 16 To implement the obligations of the Fiscal Compact, the socialist government subsequently proposed an organic law on the programming and governance of public finances (LOPGFP¹⁷ 2012). During the vote on the domestic fiscal rule reform, PS parliamentarian Marietta Karamanli stressed that "this rule only concerns the structural deficit, a concept which does not take into account the positive or negative effects of the economic situation on public

Grelier made several further points, such as, "no, this treaty does not set budgetary austerity in stone, since it makes the current guidelines reversible in line with the evolution and trajectory of our public finances. [...] No, this treaty does not establish an automatic sanction mechanism in the event of an excessive deficit: it retains the power of the political authorities, via the European Council, to decide or refuse to initiate a sanction procedure" (Grelier, PS, Assemblée nationale 2012a).

¹⁷ Loi organique relative à la programmation et à la gouvernance des finances publiques.

finances" (Karamanli, PS, Assemblée nationale 2012b). And Christophe Caresche (PS) contended that the concrete implementing law of the Fiscal Compact was made in a fashion that ensured "that the Parliament's sovereignty is maintained." He acknowledged that "it will obviously impose constraints but will also have a certain flexibility that will avoid the mechanical application of a rule" (Caresche, PS, Assemblée nationale 2012b).

The capacity of the concept of structural deficit rules to link with Keynesian countercyclical thinking thus considerably helped social democratic and other left-wing parties to support the implementation of such rules in the three cases analyzed. It allowed the formation of an ambiguous consensus on strongly discretion-constraining fiscal rules with more conservative and liberal parties that consider such rules to be generally useful and in line with their broader policy objectives.

Structural deficit rules and tax cuts

Another key feature of structural deficit rules that has helped to link discretion-constraining institutions with Keynesian thinking and the general political goals of center-left and left-wing parties is that they can be perceived as providing a protection against tax cuts from conservative and liberal parties, especially during times of strong economic growth. In line with their preference for the redistributive capacities of public budgets and a larger state share in the economy, social democratic parties have embraced the idea that structural deficit rules make it more difficult for other parties to "starve the beast" during economic boom phases. As such rules demand a direct link between tax cuts and expenditure cuts across the whole economic cycle, they likely make tax cuts in the face of reduced public services less popular.

This point has been made prominently, for example by Peer Steinbrück (SPD) in the parliamentary debate on the German debt brake in the Bundesrat. Sending a warning about the plans of more right-wing parties ahead of the 2009 elections, he stated that he would "look very closely at all those who raise their hand for this deficit rule with regard to grandiose promises of tax cuts in the federal election campaign" (Steinbrück, SPD, Deutscher Bundesrat 2009). Taking the same line, Ingolf Deubel (SPD) stressed that "one hears here and there that despite the new rule, after the federal elections or the next upswing, things can continue as before, that there would immediately be room for reducing revenues again. One may wish for this, but it is completely unrealistic" (Deubel, SPD, Deutscher Bundesrat 2009). While supporting the fiscal rule reform, for some SPD parliamentarians, such as Gerold Reichenbach, this did not go far enough. In a written declaration, he expressed disappointment that the structural deficit rule was not accompanied by an additional fiscal rule "which would prevent a reduction in the tax rate in the event of a structurally unbalanced budget" but stated that this was not accepted by the conservative CDU/CSU during the negotiations in the Second Federalism Commission (Reichenbach, SPD, Deutscher Bundestag 2009). After the 2009 elections, the CDU/CSU and the liberal FDP formed a coalition government and the SPD became the leading opposition party. In this position, the SPD did indeed make use of the German debt brake in pressuring the center-right government not to lower taxes, especially ahead of the 2013 parliamentary elections. When the government's tax cut plans became more concrete in 2011, Sigmar Gabriel, the SPD's chairperson, even threatened with a lawsuit at the German federal constitutional court (Steffen 2011). But even before this, the coalition government had already reduced its tax cut ambitions from €19 billion to €6 billion to comply with the requirements of the German debt brake during a period of economic recovery (ibid.). That the German structural deficit rule actually protected the federal and Länder budgets from revenue cuts was also confirmed by a high-level public official in the German finance ministry. While the German federal budget had considerable budget surpluses following the European public debt crisis until 2019, these were not used to reduce the overall tax rate. He acknowledged that "we have not done any tax policy for years. [...] Hardly anything has happened recently, and you can hardly find majorities for tax cuts; they find plenty for spending increases, but they cannot find any for tax cuts" (Interview DE Finance Ministry).

In the Austrian case, the social democratic SPÖ was less concerned about the overall tax rate and more concerned that no fiscal rule should inhibit the parliament's capacity to decide "how we consolidate our budget and how we shape our budgetary policy," as Andreas Schieder stressed in the parliamentary debate on the Fiscal Compact (Schieder, SPD, Nationalrat 2012a). But he ensured that even with the proposed structural deficit rule, "this 'how' will continue to be possible. It is still possible in the fiscal pact to seek a balanced mix between measures on the revenue side and on the expenditure side, between measures to stimulate the economy and measures to cut costs, between structural measures and tax measures in those areas where they have no effect on growth" (ibid.). Christoph Matznetter (SPÖ) agreed with his party colleague, stating that this reasoning led the social democratic party group to overwhelmingly support a structural deficit rule. He argued that "many people have the 'neoliberal action' in mind, the only possibility would be to cut spending, and in particular in social policy. [...] There are, after all, quite different options, namely, raising taxes" (Matznetter, SPÖ, Nationalrat 2012a). While structural deficit rules do not differ much in this regard from nominal deficit rules (national parliaments can still decide on the overall levels of taxes and expenditures and the concrete policy mix inside these revenue and spending categories), center-left parties nevertheless stressed this advantage of deficit rules with regard to fiscal rules prescribing expenditure ceilings for public budgets. In France, socialist parliamentarians also repeatedly stressed that the implemented structural deficit rule would not dissolve the domestic parliament's sovereignty over budgetary matters, allowing the governing party to choose its preferred tax/spending levels and policy mix (e.g., Caresche, PS, Minutes, 19.11.2012/Cahuzac, PS, Minutes, 19.11.2012).

6 Conclusion

Over the course of the last years, social democratic and other left-wing parties have increasingly supported institutional discretion constraints on fiscal policymaking, seemingly running counter to their traditional support for discretionary policy decisions and an active role of the state in the economy. This paper has shown how the concept of structural deficit rules facilitated the formation of an ambiguous consensus across political party families on the introduction of national fiscal rules among eurozone member states. While fiscal rules are generally supported by conservative and liberal parties, they only became more palatable for social democratic parties when the main concept switched from nominal to structural deficit rules. This allowed them to link the discretion-constraining features of fiscal rules with their preferences for Keynesian countercyclical policymaking and to construct such rules as a protection against tax cuts from right-wing parties, particularly in times of strong economic growth. Three country case studies focusing on Germany, Austria, and France have shown empirically how social democratic and other left-wing parties have – at least discursively – supported fiscal rule reforms introducing structural deficit rules. The empirical findings should not imply, however, that all relevant actors inside center-left and left-wing parties subscribed to the idea of structural deficit rules during recent years. The very ambiguity of these rules also led to scepticism among significant numbers of parliamentarians and party members, while some leftist party factions remained completely opposed to the principle of fiscal rules. The internally dominant factions of center-left and left-wing parties nevertheless accepted the premise of structural deficit rules as being compatible with their parties' concerns for countercyclical policymaking and state capacities for redistribution. This also allowed them to use the concept as a discursive justification for their political decisions.

In theoretical terms, the concept of structural deficit rules has allowed for an exploration of different forms of ambiguity underlying ambiguous consensus on political decisions. This paper has provided a (re-)conceptualization of three types of ambiguity: textual ambiguity, institutional ambiguity, and ideational ambiguity. Especially the latter has been crucial in bringing about an ambiguous consensus across party lines in the case of structural deficit rules. Concepts that can integrate different and often contradictory problem definitions, policy objectives, and the means to achieve these objectives play a key role for institutional and policy reforms. It is, however, only with the implementation of political decisions based on an ambiguous consensus that the actual outcomes will become visible. In the case of structural deficit rules it became clear in hindsight that they are substantially more procyclical than originally assumed (Heimberger and Kapeller 2017) and thus have neither fulfilled the intentions and expectations of social democratic parties (Interview AT SPÖ) nor of many experts (Interview AT WIFO). The consequence was excessive austerity across eurozone member states in the aftermath of the Great Recession (see Blyth 2013; Guajardo, Leigh, and Pescatori 2011). Structural deficit rules were more successful in avoiding tax cuts with a lasting negative effect on public finances (Interview DE Finance Ministry). An ambiguous consensus, once

molded into a political decision, will eventually get "resolved" when it is put into place. This also (re-)opens potential for contestation and the move towards new forms of ambiguous consensus. Broader discontent with the existing fiscal rules across Europe, as well as the fiscal consequences of the current Covid-19 crisis, make another overhaul of fiscal rules in the near future likely. The next fiscal rule concept allowing for ambiguous consensus might be expenditure rules that exclude cyclical components (see Bénassy-Quéré et al. 2018; Caselli et al. 2018; Darvas, Martin, and Ragot 2018; Feld et al. 2018; European Fiscal Board 2019). Time will tell whether political decisions on future fiscal rule reforms can garner again center-left and left-wing support.

This paper has focused on the role of ambiguous consensus in bringing about political decisions and how different forms of underlying ambiguity – in this case, especially ideational ambiguity – can facilitate such processes. This finding should not, however, disregard the fact that other factors have played an important role in the case of social democratic and left-wing support of structural deficit rules. During the European debt crisis, governing parties all across the eurozone were facing very difficult choices as financial markets put bond interest rates under pressure. But even if other factors were also decisive for center-left parties to adopt structural deficit rules at the European and national level, the underlying concept of the rules made it nevertheless possible to justify supporting them discursively as being in line with broader policy preferences.

Interviews¹⁸

Institution(s)	Role	Date	Duration	Form
SPÖ (AT)	Member of parliament	06.02.2018	2h00	Phone
Green Party (AT)	Member of parliament	28.02.2018	1h50	Phone
Fiscal Council (AT)	Council member	11.05.2018	1h40	Phone
Parliamentary Budget Office (AT)	Public official	05.10.2017	1h45	Skype
WIFO (AT)	Researcher	20.06.2018	1h20	Phone
Finance Ministry (DE)	Public official	30.05.2018	1h55	Phone
German Council of Economic Experts (DE)	Council member	26.07.2017	1h05	Phone
Finance Ministry 1 (FR)	Public official	06.09.2018	1h10	Personal
Finance Ministry 2 (FR)	Public official	10.10.2018	2h00	Personal
Finance Ministry 3 (FR)	Public official	26.09.2018	1h05	Personal
Court of Auditors (FR)	Division president	15.06.2018	1h00	Personal
OECD	Economic adviser	12.06.2018	0h50	Personal
Rating Agency	Head of unit	31.08.2018	0h45	Phone

¹⁸ The English translations of the interviews, parliamentary minutes, electoral manifestos, and party platform programs quoted in the paper are produced by the author.

Parliamentary and committee minutes

Germany

Deutscher Bundestag. 2009. Plenarprotokoll 16/225. Berlin, May 29.

Deutscher Bundesrat. 2009. Plenarprotokoll 859. Berlin, June 12.

FöKo II [Kommission von Bundestag und Bundesrat zur Modernisierung der Bund-Länder-Finanzbeziehungen]. 2007. *Kommissionsprotokoll 5.* Berlin, September 13.

Austria

Nationalrat. 2001. Stenographisches Protokoll XXI/84. Vienna, November 22.

Nationalrat. 2004. Stenographisches Protokoll XXII/89. Vienna, April 9–10.

Nationalrat. 2007. Stenographisches Protokoll XXIII/42. Vienna, December 6.

Nationalrat. 2011. Stenographisches Protokoll XXIV/137. Vienna, December 7.

Nationalrat. 2012a. Stenographisches Protokoll XXIV/164. Vienna, July 4–5.

Nationalrat. 2012b. Stenographisches Protokoll XXIV/167. Vienna, July 6.

France

Assemblée nationale. 2011. Compte rendu intégral. Paris, July 13.

Assemblée nationale. 2012a. Compte rendu intégral. Paris, October 9.

Assemblée nationale. 2012b. Compte rendu intégral. Paris, November 19.

Electoral manifestos and party platform programs

Germany

SPD-Parteivorstand. 2005. Vertrauen in Deutschland: Das Wahlmanifest der SPD. Berlin: SPD-Parteivorstand.

SPD-Parteivorstand. 2013. *Das Wir entscheidet. Das Regierungsprogramm 2013–2017*. Berlin: SPD-Parteivorstand.

Bündnis 90/Die Grünen. 2009. Der grüne neue Gesellschaftsvertrag. Klima – Arbeit – Gerechtigkeit – Freiheit. Berlin: Bündnis 90/Die Grünen.

Bündnis 90/Die Grünen. 2013. Zeit für den grünen Wandel. Teilhaben. Einmischen. Zukunft schaffen. Bundestagswahlprogramm 2013 von Bündnis 90/Die Grünen. Berlin: Bündnis 90/Die Grünen.

CDU-Parteitag. 2007. Freiheit und Sicherheit. Grundsätze für Deutschland. Das Grundsatzprogramm. Hannover: CDU-Parteitag.

FDP-Parteitag. 1998. Es ist Ihre Wahl. Das Wahlprogramm der Liberalen zur Bundestagswahl 1998. Leipzig: FDP-Parteitag.

Austria

ÖVP. 2017. Der neue Weg. Neue Gerechtigkeit & Verantwortung. Das Programm der Liste Sebastian Kurz – die neue Volkspartei zur Nationalratswahl 2017. Vienna: ÖVP.

NEOS. 2017. Wahlmanifest. Vienna: NEOS.

SPÖ. 2017. Plan A für Austria. Das Programm für Wohlstand, Sicherheit & gute Laune. Vienna: SPÖ Die Grünen. 2017. Das ist grün. Wahlprogramm der Grünen. Nationalratswahl 2017. Vienna: Die Grünen.

France

UMP. 2007. Contrat de législature 2007-2012. Paris: UMP.

MoDem. 2012. François Bayrou. La France Solidaire. Paris: MoDem.

References

- Béland, Daniel, and Robert H. Cox. 2016. "Ideas as Coalition Magnets: Coalition Building, Policy Entrepreneurs, and Power Relations." *Journal of European Public Policy* 23 (3): 428–45.
- Bell, Christine, and Kathleen Cavanaugh. 1998. "Constructive Ambiguity' or Internal Self-Determination: Self-Determination, Group Accommodation, and the Belfast Agreement." Fordham International Law Journal 22 (4): 1345–71.
- Bénassy-Quéré, Agnès, Markus K. Brunnermeier, Henrik Enderlein, Emmanuel Farhi, Marcel Fratzscher, Clemens Fuest, Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas, Philippe Martin, Jean Pisani-Ferry, Hélène Rey, Isabel Schnabel, Nicolas Véron, Beatrice Weder di Mauro, and Jeromin Zettelmeyer. 2018. "Reconciling Risk Sharing with Market Discipline: A Constructive Approach to Euro Area Reform." CEPR Policy Insight 91, CEPR Centre for Policy Research, London.
- Best, Jacqueline. 2012. "Ambiguity and Uncertainty in International Organizations: A History of Debating IMF Conditionality." *International Studies Quarterly* 56 (4): 674–88.
- Blyth, Mark. 2002. *Great Transformations: Economic Ideas and Institutional Change in the Twentieth Century.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Blyth, Mark. 2013. Austerity: The History of a Dangerous Idea. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Böckenförde, Markus. 2016. "From Constructive Ambiguity to Harmonious Interpretation: Religion-Related Provisions in the Tunisian Constitution." *American Behavioral Scientist* 60 (8): 919–40.
- Brown-Collier, Elba K., and Bruce E. Collier. 1995. "What Keynes Really Said about Deficit Spending. *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics* 17 (3): 341–55.
- Buchanan, James M., and Richard E. Wagner. (1977) 2000. Democracy in Deficit: The Political Legacy of Lord Keynes. Vol. 8 of The Collected Works of James M. Buchanan. Indianapolis: Liberty Fund.
- Calmfors, Lars, and Simon Wren-Lewis. 2011. "What Should Fiscal Councils Do?" *CESifo Working Paper Series* No. 3382, CESifo, Munich.
- Campbell, John L. 2004. *Institutional Change and Globalization*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Caselli, Francesca, Luc Eyraud, Andrew Hodge, Federico Diaz Kalan, Young Kim, Victor Lledó, Samba Mbaye, Adina Popescu, Wolf Heinrich Reuter, Julien Reynaud, Elif Ture, and Philippe Wingender. 2018. "Second-Generation Fiscal Rules: Balancing Simplicity, Flexibility, and Enforceability." *IMF Staff Discussion Note* 18/04, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Crawford, Beverly. 2007. Power and German Foreign Policy: Embedded Hegemony in Europe. Basing-stoke: Palgrave MacMillan.
- Crespy, Amandine, and Pierre Vanheuverzwijn. 2019. "What 'Brussels' Means by Structural Reforms: Empty Signifier or Constructive Ambiguity?" *Comparative European Politics* 17: 92–111.
- Dafflon, Bernard, and Francesc Pujol. 2001. "Fiscal Preferences and Fiscal Performance: Swiss Cantonal Evidence." *International Public Management Review* 2 (2): 54–76.
- Darvas, Zsolt, Philippe Martin, and Xavier Ragot. 2018. "European Fiscal Rules Require a Major Overhaul." *Les notes du conseil d'analyse économique* 47, Conseil d'analyse économique, Paris.
- De Maillard, Jacques, and Tanguy Le Goff. 2009. "La tolérance zéro en France: Succès d'un slogan, illusion d'un transfert." *Revue française de science politique* 59 (4): 655–79.
- Debrun, Xavier. 2011. "Democratic Accountability, Deficit Bias, and Independent Fiscal Agencies." *IMF Working Paper* 11/173, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Debrun, Xavier, Tidiane Kinda, Teresa Curristine, Luc Eyraud, Jason Harris, and Johann Seiwald. 2013. "The Functions and Impact of Fiscal Councils." *IMF Policy Paper*, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Di Giorgio, Carlo, and Enzo Rossi. 2012. "Central Bank Communication, Ambiguity and Market Interest Rates: A Case Study." *Modern Economy* 3 (3): 295–301.
- Dingley, James. 2005. "Constructive Ambiguity and the Peace Process in Northern Ireland." Low Intensity Conflict & Law Enforcement 13 (1): 1–23.

- Dunlop, Claire A., Martino Maggetti, Claudio M. Radaelli, and Duncan Russel. 2012. "The Many Uses of Regulatory Impact Assessment: A Meta-Analysis of EU and UK Cases." *Regulation & Governance* 6 (1): 23–45.
- Dyson, Kenneth. 2014. States, Debt, and Power: "Saints" and "Sinners" in European History and Integration. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Eichengreen, Barry, Jeffry Frieden, and Jürgen von Hagen. 1995. *Monetary and Fiscal Policy in an Integrated Europe*. Berlin: Springer.
- Emmerij, Louis, Richard Jolly, and Thomas G. Weiss. 2005. "Economic and Social Thinking at the UN in Historical Perspective." *Development and Change* 36 (2): 211–35.
- European Fiscal Board. 2019. Assessment of EU Fiscal Rules with a Focus on the Six and Two-Pack Legislation. Brussels: European Fiscal Board.
- Feld, Lars P., Christoph Schmidt, Isabel Schnabel, and Volker Wieland. 2018. "Refocusing the European Fiscal Framework." VoxEU.org CEPR Policy Portal, September 12. https://voxeu.org/article/refocusing-european-fiscal-framework.
- Friedman, Elie. 2017. "Evasion Strategies in International Documents: When 'Constructive Ambiguity' Leads to Oppositional Interpretation." *Critical Discourse Studies* 14 (4): 385–401.
- Guajardo, Jaime, Daniel Leigh, and Andrea Pescatori. 2011. "Expansionary Austerity: New International Evidence." *IMF Working Paper* 11/158, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Hall, Peter A. 1993. "Policy Paradigms, Social Learning, and the State: The Case of Economic Policymaking in Britain." *Comparative Politics* 25 (3): 275–96.
- Hallerberg, Mark, Rolf Rainer Strauch, and Jürgen von Hagen. 2009. *Fiscal Governance in Europe*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hassenteufel, Patrick, and Jacques de Maillard. 2013. "Convergence, transferts et traduction: Les apports de la comparaison transnationale." *Gouvernement & action publique* 3 (3): 377–93.
- Heimberger, Philipp, and Jacob Kapeller. 2017. "The Performativity of Potential Output: Procyclicality and Path Dependency in Coordinating European Fiscal Policies." *Review of International Political Economy* 24 (5): 904–28.
- Hibbs, Douglas A. 1977. "Political Parties and Macroeconomic Policy." *The American Political Science Review* 71 (4): 1467–87.
- Jabko, Nicolas. 2005. *Playing the Market: A Political Strategy for Uniting Europe*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Jegen, Maya, and Frédéric Mérand. 2013. "Constructive Ambiguity: Does it Work? Comparing the European Union's Energy and Defense Policies." West European Politics 37 (1): 182–203.
- Jenson, Jane. 2010. "Diffusing Ideas for after Neoliberalism: The Social Investment Perspective in Europe and Latin America." *Global Social Policy* 10 (1): 59–84.
- Kartsonaski, Argyro. 2020. "Playing with Fire: An Assessment of the EU's Approach of Constructive Ambiguity on Kosovo's Blended Conflict." *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies* 22 (1): 103–20.
- Kawamura, Kohei, Yohei Kobashi, Masato Shizume, and Kozo Ueda. 2019. "Strategic Central Bank Communication: Discourse Analysis of the Bank of Japan's Monthly Report." *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control* 100: 230–50.
- Kingdon, John W. (1984) 2014. *Agendas, Alternatives, and Public Policies*. 2nd ed. Harlow: Pearson. Kirchgässner, Gebhard. 2013. "On the Political Economy of Public Deficits and Debt." *German Economic Review* 15 (1): 116–30.
- Knox, Colin, and Paul Carmichael. 2005. "Devolution the Northern Ireland Way: An Exercise in 'Creative Ambiguity." *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy* 23: 63–83.
- Kopits, George, and Steven Symanski. 1998. "Fiscal Policy Rules." *IMF Occasional Paper* 162, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Krogstrup, Signe, and Sébastien Wälti. 2008. "Do Fiscal Rules Cause Budgetary Outcomes?" *Public Choice* 136 (1/2): 123–38.
- Kugler, Martin. 2010. "Androsch: 'Brauchen Verschweizerung Österreichs." *Presse*, August 19. https://www.diepresse.com/588497/androsch-brauchen-verschweizerung-osterreichs.

- Mabbett, Deborah, and Waltraud Schelkle. 2016. "Searching under the Lamp-Post: The Evolution of Fiscal Surveillance." In *Political and Economic Dynamics of the Eurozone Crisis*, edited by James A. Caporaso and Martin Rhodes, 122–44. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Mahoney, James, and Kathleen Thelen. 2010. Explaining Institutional Change: Ambiguity, Agency, and Power. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Marcus, Jonathan, and Bruce George. 1983. "The Ambiguous Consensus: French Defense Policy under Mitterrand." *The World Today* 39 (10): 369–77.
- Maycroft, Neil. 2017. "Uselessness' as a Response to Ambiguity: Diminished Things and Marginal Places." Conference paper. Unnecessary, Unwanted and Uncalled-For: A Workshop on Uselessness, UVA, Amsterdam, March 29–30.
 - http://eprints.lincoln.ac.uk/id/eprint/29944/1/Uselessness.pdf.
- Mitchell, David. 2009. "Cooking the Fudge: Constructive Ambiguity and the Implementation of the Northern Ireland Agreement, 1998–2007." *Irish Political Studies* 24 (3): 321–36.
- Oosterveld, Valerie. 2014. "Constructive Ambiguity and the Meaning of 'Gender' for the International Criminal Court." *International Feminist Journal of Politics* 16 (4): 563–80.
- Palier, Bruno. 2005. "Ambiguous Agreement, Cumulative Change: French Social Policy in the 1990s." In *Beyond Continuity: Institutional Change in Advanced Political Economies*, edited by Wolfgang Streeck and Kathleen Thelen, 127–44. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Persson, Torsten, and Lars E. O. Svensson. 1989. "Why a Stubborn Conservative Would Run a Deficit: Policy with Time-Inconsistent Preferences." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 104 (2): 325–45.
- Pettersson-Lidbom, Per. 2001. "An Empirical Investigation of the Strategic Use of Debt." *Journal of Political Economy* 109 (3): 570–83.
- Rayroux, Antoine. 2014. "Speaking EU Defence at Home: Contentious Discourses and Constructive Ambiguity." *Cooperation and Conflict* 49 (3): 386–405.
- Ricoeur, Paul. 2004. De la traduction. Paris: Payot.
- Schaechter, Andrea, Tidiane Kinda, Nina Budina, and Anke Weber. 2012. "Fiscal Rules in Response to the Crisis Toward the 'Next-Generation' Rules. A New Dataset." *IMF Working Paper* 12/187, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.
- Schmidt, Vivien A. 2010. "Taking Ideas and Discourse Seriously: Explaining Change through Discursive Institutionalism as the Fourth 'New Institutionalism." *European Political Science Review* 2 (1): 1–25.
- Schmidt, Vivien A., and Mark Thatcher. 2013. "Theorizing Ideational Continuity: The Resilience of Neo-Liberal Ideas in Europe." In *Resilient Liberalism in Europe's Political Economy*, edited by Vivien A. Schmidt and Mark Thatcher, 1–52. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sheingate, Adam. 2010. "Rethinking Rules: Creativity and Constraint in the U.S. House of Representatives." In *Explaining Institutional Change: Ambiguity, Agency, and Power*, edited by James Mahoney and Kathleen Thelen, 168–203. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Snodderly, Dan, ed. 2011. *Peace Terms: Glossary of Terms for Conflict Management and Peacebuilding.* Washington, DC: United States Institute of Peace.
- Standard. 2011. "Androsch: 'Kreisky hat die rote Katze ein für allemal verbannt." *Standard*, January 7. https://www.derstandard.at/story/1293370216401/100-jahre-kreisky-androsch-kreisky-hat-die-rote-katze-ein-fuer-allemal-verbannt.
- Steffen, Tilman. 2011. "Streitum Steuersenkung: Sozialdemokratische Drohgebärden." *Zeit*, November 9. https://www.zeit.de/politik/deutschland/2011-11/spd-steuersenkung-koalition.
- Steyer, Véronique, and Claude Gilbert. 2013. "Exploring the Ambiguous Consensus on Public-Private Partnerships in Collective Risk Preparation." *Sociology of Health & Illness* 35 (2): 292–303.
- Vinogradov, Dmitri. 2010. "Destructive Effects of Constructive Ambiguity in Risky Times." *EBS Working Paper*, Essex Business School, Colchester.
- Volkerink, Björn, and Jakob de Haan. 2001. "Fragmented Government Effects on Fiscal Policy: New Evidence." *Public Choice* 109 (3/4): 221–42.
- Vollmer, Uwe, and Michael Diemer. 2011. "Bankenrettung, 'constructive ambiguity' und moralisches Risiko." *Jahrbuch für Wirtschaftswissenschaften* 62 (2): 139–59.

- von Hagen, Jürgen. 1991. "A Note on the Empirical Effectiveness of Formal Fiscal Restraints." *Journal of Public Economics* 44: 199–210.
- von Hagen, Jürgen, and James Poterba. 1999. *Fiscal Institutions and Fiscal Performance*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Wigglesworth, Robin. 2018. "There's Still a Lesson Jay Powell Could Learn from Greenspan." *Financial Times*, April 13.
 - https://www.ft.com/content/cb06c3c8-3e92-11e8-b7e0-52972418fec4.
- Zahariadis, Nikolaos. 2007. "Ambiguity and Choice in European Public Policy." *Journal of European Public Policy* 15 (4): 514–30.

MaxPo Discussion Paper Series

20/4

A. Eisl

The Ambiguous Consensus on Fiscal Rules: How Ideational Ambiguity Has Facilitated Social Democratic Parties' Support of Structural Deficit Rules in the Eurozone

20/3

O. Godechot et al.

The Great Separation: Top

Earner Segregation at Work in

High-Income Countries

20/2

P. Kaczmarczyk

Growth Models and the Footprint of Transnational Capital

20/1

J. Preunkert

Primary Dealer Systems in the European Union

19/2

K. Koddenbrock, N.S. Sylla Towards a Political Economy of Monetary Dependency: The Case of the CFA Franc in West Africa

19/1

O. Godechot, J. Horton, Y. Millo Structural Exchange Pays Off: Reciprocity in Boards and Executive Compensations in US Firms (1990–2015)

18/1

J. Andersson, O. Godechot (eds.)

Destabilizing Orders – Understanding the Consequences
of Neoliberalism: Proceedings
from the MaxPo Fifth-Anniversary Conference. Paris, January
12–13, 2018

17/1 E. Eisl

Explaining Variation in Public Debt: A Quantitative Analysis of the Effects of Governance

16/3

V. Boussard, O. Godechot, N. Woloszko

How to Make a Deal: The Role of Rankings and Personal Ties in Creating Trust in the M&A Market

16/2

T. Krarup

Economic Discourse and the European Integration of Financial Infrastructures and Financial Markets

16/1

L. Kastner

The Power of Weak Interests in Financial Reforms: Explaining the Creation of a US Consumer Agency

15/3

O. Godechot
Financialization Is
Marketization! A Study on the
Respective Impact of Various
Dimensions of Financialization
on the Increase in Global

Inequality

15/2

C. Woll

Politics in the Interest of Capital: A Not-So-Organized

Combat

15/1

L. Lacan, J. Lazarus

A Relationship and a Practice: On the French Sociology of Credit 14/3

M. Fourcade, E. Ollion, Y. Algan The Superiority of Economists

14/2

H. Bergeron, P. Castel, S. Dubuisson-Quellier Governance by Labels

14/1

O. Godechot

The Chance of Influence: A Natural Experiment on the Role of Social Capital in Academic Hiring

13/4

O. Godechot

Le salaire dépend-il du sexe du supérieur?

13/3

O. Godechot, Z. Salibekyan Should We Clash or Should I Go? The Impact of Low Wage and Bad Working Conditions on the Exit–Voice Trade-off

13/2

L. Kastner

Transnational Civil Society and the Consumer-Friendly Turn in Financial Regulation

13/1

M. Fourcade, P. Steiner, W. Streeck, C. Woll Moral Categories in the Financial Crisis

MaxPo Discussion Papers

Download PDF files from the MaxPo website (free of charge).

www.maxpo.eu
Go to *Publications*.

Consult our website for up-to-date information on MaxPo publications and publications by MaxPo researchers. To sign up for our newsletter, please go to News > Newsletter on the MaxPo website.

The Max Planck Sciences Po Center on Coping with Instability in Market Societies (MaxPo) is a Franco-German research center which was jointly founded by the Max Planck Society and Sciences Po. Researchers at MaxPo investigate how individuals, organizations, and nation-states are coping with the new forms of economic and social instability that have developed in Western societies as a result of policy shifts, the expansion of markets, technological advances, and cultural changes. Located at Sciences Po Paris and cooperating closely with the Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies (MPIfG) in Cologne, the Center aims to contribute substantially to the social sciences in Europe and enrich academic and political dialogue between France and Germany.

The MaxPo Discussion Paper Series presents research in economic sociology, political economy, economic history, and related fields conducted at MaxPo and its partner institutions, in joint research projects, and in projects by visiting scholars.





